Minutes from meeting with FBU
Monday 6" January 2014, 2pm, DCLG Eland House

Present: Brandon Lewis, Neil O’Connor, Chris Megamey, Peter Holland, _
Andy Dark, Sean Starbuck, Alan Mclean, _ and PS/BL

<redacted as out of scope>
He [SS] suggested that the pension scheme could be configured differently, within the
scheme cost ceilings, to offer firefighters more flexible options if they chose to retire earlier.
He urged that the government look into this before the final decision is made. He said that
their Actuary and the Government’s Actuary should consult one and other.

CM hjghlighted the importance of HMT’s view on any further changes to the scheme.

BL said he was content for thesé ideas to be explored with officials but he was concerned that
this is where they were 9 months ago or more.

<redacted as out of sc'ope>

SS said that they shduid have a couple of weeks to look at the accrual and evaluation rates

with [

<redacted as out of scope>

Actions:
It was agreed to have another meeting at the end of January 2014 and to also schedule several

meetings with officials in the meantime.

EMAIL EXCHANGE 1

-~

. From:

Sent: 09 January 2014 16:38
To: NN

Cc: 'Sean Starbuck <sean.starbuck@fbu.org.uk> (sean.starbuck@fbu.org.uk); | KEGcNGNG

- I; chris Megainey
Subject: RE: Firefighters' Pension Scheme 2015: alternative scheme designs
Hi [
Thanks, | will share these with [l 2t GAD (who you met a couple of years ago at FBU HQ)
and ask him to discuss with you.

On alternative design 3, | recall that HMT had an upper limit for CPi + X calculations. Can | suggest
that you limit any suggestions to no more than the current highest one {which | believe is the
Teachers at CPl + 1.6%)?

Thanks




Workforce, Pay and Pensions
Department for Communities and Local Government

Tel

Ema_@communities.qsi.qov.uk

From: [ [rmaitco: NN < firstactuarial.co.uk]

Sent: Thursday, January 09, 2014 4:23 PM
To: *

Cc: Sean Starbuck <sean.starbuck@fbu.org.uk> (sean.starbuck@fbu.org.uk}; _
Subject: Firefighters' Pension Scheme 2015: alternative scheme desians

Hi

Sean has asked me to share with you some of the scheme designs that Flrst
Actuarial have been working on for the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme.

| have summarised these below. You will be familiar with the first two designs.

The three alternative designs below have not been put forward by the FBU and this
email should not be read as such.

(1) Current "Proposed Final Agreement”;
e Accrual: 1/58.7ths
» Active CARE revaluation. AWE |
» Reduction at age 55: Actuarially reduced with reference to State Pension Age
s ERFs method: Actuarial equivalent of a deferred pension

(2) DCLG's offer of 19 June 2013:
* Accrual; 1/59.7ths
¢ Active CARE revaluation. AWE
» Reduction at age 55: Actuarially reduced with reference to age 60
« ERFs method: Actuarial equivalent of a deferred pension

(3) Alternative design A:
¢ Accrual: 1/64ths*
» Active CARE revaluation: CPI + 2.9%
¢ Reduction at age 55: Actuarially reduced with reference to age 60
 ERFs method: Actuariat equivalent of an active pension

(4) Alternative design B:
‘ « Accrual: 1/48ths*
¢ Active CARE revaluation: CPl + 0%
* Reduction at age 55: Actuarially reduced with reference to age 60
» ERFs method: Actuarial equivalent of an deferred pension

(5) Alternative design C:

Accrual: 1/53rds*

Active CARE revaluation: CPI + 0%

Reduction at age 55 Actuarially reduced with reference to age 60

ERFs method: Reduction of 3% a year (simple}. i.e. 3% at age 59, 6% at age
58, 9% at age 57, 12% at age 56, and 15% at age 55.




* The accrual rale used in the alternative designs have been calculated by First
Actuarial so that the design falls within the Cost Ceiling. However, this will of course
need to be confirmed by GAD who can carry ouf more accurate calculations,
including the short-term and long-term tests. You may therefore want to share this
email with GAD to instruct them to verify the accrual rates calculated by us above.

| suggest you continue to liaise directly with Sean, but please feel free to email or call
me (or ask somebody from GAD to email or call me) if you want clarlflcatlon on any
of the designs above.

Kind regards

I 1A

First Actuarial LLP

Furness House, Furness Quay, Salford Quays, Manchesier, M50 3XZ.

EMAIL EXCHANGE 2

FI‘OI‘I‘l

Sent 15 January 2014 17:39
o: IR I ;- 5o i

Cc 'Sean Starbuck <sean.starbuck@fbu.org.uk> (sean.starbuck@fbu.org.uk); | EGN; chris
Megainey
Subject: RE: Firefighters Pension Scheme: Alternative Scheme Designs - 15 January 2014

Thanks. Please note that these can only be draft numbers as we do not have HMT agreement on the
detailed assumptions to be adopted.

Thanks

Workforce, Pay and Pensiens
Department for Communities and Local Government

Tel:
Ema_@communities.qsi.qov.uk




From: | [maitto: I @ ficstactuarial.co.uk]

Sent: Wednesday, January 15, 2014 10:11 AM
@gad.gov.uk'

Sean Starbuck <sean.starbuck@fbu.org.uk> (sean.starbuck@fbu.org.uk);

Subject: Firefighters Pension Scheme: Alternative Scheme Designs - 15 January 2014

Just to confirm; I've summarised below the alternative scheme designs that we
asked you to calculate. '

The following designs are all variations on DCLG's offer of 19 June 2013 which was
as follows.

DCLG's offer of 19 June 2013:

Active CARE revaluation: AWE.

Reduction at age 55; Actuarially reduced with reference to age 60.
ERFs method: Actuarial equivalent of a deferred pension.
Affordable accrual rate: 1/59.7ths.

The alternative designs we discussed yesterday are as follows:

Alternative design (1):
e Active CARE revaluation: AWE.
¢ Reduction at age 55: Actuarially reduced with reference to age 60.
s ERFs method: Actuarial equivalent of an active pension.
» Affordable accrual rate: TO BE CONFIRMED BY GAD.

Alternative design (2):

Active CARE revaluation: CPI plus 0%.

Reduction at age 55: Actuarially reduced with reference to.age 60.
ERFs method: Actuarial equivalent of a deferred pension.
Affordable accrual rate: TO BE CONFIRMED BY GAD.

" Alternative design (3a):
» Active CARE revaluation: CPI plus 1.25%.
* Reduction at age 55: Actuarially reduced with reference to age 60.
e ERFs method: Actuarial equivalent of a deferred pension .
+ Affordable accrual rate: TO BE CONFIRMED BY GAD.

Alternative design (3b}): :
« Active CARE revaluation: CPI plus 1.25%. ' .
* Reduction at age 55; Actuarially reduced with reference to age 60 '
e ERFs method: FIXED PERCENTAGE PER YEAR EARLY (E.G. 2% A YEAR
EARLY, L.E. 10% REDUCTION AT AGE 55) TO BE CONFIRMED BY GAD.
» Affordable accrual rate: 1/55.3ths.

Based on what you have calculated before, | suspect that you may be able fo
provide the first three designs fairly quickly with the fourth design (3b) taking a little
longer. If you are able to share with us any calculations earlier than the others, then
I would be grateful if you could provide these in advance, with the rest to follow.




Please give me a call if you have any questions on the above.

Kind regards

I 1A

First Actuarial LLP

Furness House, Furness Quay, Salford Quays, Manchester, M50 3XZ. '

EMAIL EXCHANGE 3

From: I

Sent: 27 January 2014 10:23
To: 'Sean Starbuck’;
Cc: Chris Megainey; : T

Subject: FW: UNCLASSIFIED: Fire reform options

Dear Sean, |}

Please find attached two draft latters on the fire scheme designs that you have asked GAD to cost.

You will see that GAD have provided an accrual rate for active ERFs from age 55 with average
weekly earnings revaluation. However, GAD are only able to provide an accrual rate range within 2
percentage points for the CPI/+1.25% revaluation rates with deferred ERFs from age 55 at this stage,
although they are refining this number this week.

These costings are provided at the request of the FBU/First Actuarial during the consultation
period and the Department has not expressed any view on their contents. You should also be aware

that no further assessment has been made of the assumptions underpinning these costings, and no
discussion has taken place with HMT on the design or the assumptions used.

Regards

Workforce, Pay and Pensions
- Department for Communities and Local Government

Tel: ‘
Ema_@(:ommunities.qsi.qov.uk




From: I [roilto: NN 6 g2d qov.uk]

Sent: Friday, January 24, 2014 5:53 PM
To:
Cc: ; Fire; Ian Boonin

Subject: UNCLASSIFIED: Fire reform options

| attach two letters with accrual rates for some of the options proposed by First Actuarialf

.FBU. The "active EERF” letter provides an accrual rate while the one that considers
revaluation rates provides a range. We will firm up the range over the next week and also
make a start on the last of the FBU options.

<redacted as out of scope>

[ am out of the office on Monday and back on Tuesday. |l is probably the best person for
you talk to about this is you would like to speak to someone on Monday.

Peputy Chief Actuary

Government Actuary’s Department
Finlaison House

15-17 Furnival Street

Londori EC4A 1AB

T

F

E ad.gov.uk {GSI ad.gsi.gov.uk)
W www.gov.ukigad

'EMAIL EXCHANGE 4

From:
Sent: 03 February 2014 10:47
To: 'Sean Starbuck’

Cc: 'Matt Wrack’; Chris Megainey; | EGczNEE
Subject: RE: progress following EC
Hi Sean

Attached is the active ERF sensitivities. [ think it's fairly self-explanatory but might be helpful if you
discuss it with | and ask himto put it through his career profile calculator.

Yep, let's pick up on proposals etc this afternoon.
.|

Thanks

Workforce, Pay and Pensions
Department for Communities and Local Government




Tel: '
Email: communities.gsi.gov.uk

From: Sean Starbuck [mailtol:sean.starbuck@fbu.orq.uH
Sent: Friday, January 31, 2014 7.27 PM
To: :

Cc: Matt Wrack; Chris Megainey; [ EGTG<zNGNGNG

Subject: RE: progress following EC

Hi I

<redacted as out of scope>

Regards
Sean

Sean Starbuck
National Officer

From: ISR | aitto: S < communities.qsi.gov.uk] |
. Sent: 31 January 20114 12:04
To: Sean Starbuck

Cc: Matt Wrack; Chris Megainey; || EGTcNNG

Subject: RE: progress following EC

Hi Sean

<redacted as out of scope>
As you know, we have commissioned GAD fo carry out a significant amount of actuarial work to help
you consider possible options. GAD inform me that we should have the sensitivities on the active
ERFs by close today or early Monday. However, as we have asked GAD to prioritise this then firming
up the accrual rate for the others options will slip into early next week.

<redacted as out of scope>

Thanks

EMAIL EXCHANGE 5

From:

Sent: 07 February 2014 11:13
To: : 'Sean Starbuck (FBU)'
Cc: Chris Megainey; ; _

Subject: RE: Fire reform options

Ml sean




Altached are the firmed up accrual rates from GAD for the CPI+ revaluations.

Thanks

Workforce, Pay and Pensions
Department for Communities and Local Government

Tel: ‘
Ema_@communities.qsi.qov.uk

EMAIL EXCHANGE 6

From:

‘Sent: 10 March 2014 11:43
To: 'Matt Wrack’

Cc: 'Sean Starbuck’
Subject: RE: Fire pensions

Hi Matt

Please find attached the first of the next set of actuarial options from GAD.

Reiards

EMAIL EXCHANGE 7

From:

Sent: 19 March 2014 11:10

To: 'sean.starbuck@fbu.org.uk'; 'Matt Wrack'
Cc:

Subject: GAD calculations

Sean, Matt
Please find attached a letter from GAD on the final cost variant.

Thanks




GOYERNMENT ACTUARY'S DEPARTMENT

.PROTECT - SCHEME MANAGEMENT

DRAFT

- Reference:

By e-mail towcommunities.gsi.gov.uk ‘
24 January 2014 ' :

Dear NS

Costing of alternative early retirement and revaluation provisions

When we met Wrth the FBU on 14 January, you asked me to calculate the atfordab]e accrual rate
for the scheme designs proposed by the FBU. o

GAD’s report ‘Verification of cost of final scheme design’ dated 23 May 2012’ (the Verrfrcahon
Report) set out the accrual rate that could be provided within the framework of the HMT cost
ceiling process on a benefit-design where Early Retirement Factors with reference to the normal -
pension age of 60 are provided on early retirement from active service from age 57 The accrual

rate stated was 1/58.7. . .

' WP draft lefter of 16 May 2013, set out the corresponding accrual rate for the same
proposed design as above, except that Early Retirement Factors with reference to the normal
pension age of 60 are provided on early retrrement from actrve service from age 55. The accrual

rate stated was 1/59.7.

" The accrual rates |m aft letter were calculated assuming that revaluation
- whilst in service was in line with earnings. You have asked GAD to calculate the affordable

accrual rates if the in-service revaluation rates were finked to CP! and to CPl plus 1. 25% a year,
'email to me dated 15 January 2014. .

as requested in

This letter should be read in conjunction with the Verification Report and_(etter
of 16 May 2013, and in particular-the limitations contained therein.

Results

You have asked GAD to calculate the affordable accrual rates if these alternative revaluation rates
applied . Table 1 sets out the range in which the affordable accrual rates for the scheme designs -
described above will lie using the data, methodology and assumptions described in this lefter.
These accrual rates should be considered in conjunction with the limitations noted below..

! https.//www.gov. uk/governmentfuploads/system/uploads/attachment dataffile/9401/2150577.pdf
Finlalson House 15-17 Furnival Street London EG4A 1AB T: +44 (0)20 7211 2600 W: www.gad.gov.uk
Direct Line: Fax Number: - Email: ~@gad goviuk

GAD sesks fo achieve a high standard in all eur work. Please go to our website for delails of the standards we apply.




PRQTECT - SCHEME MANAGEMENT

" “Table 1~ Affordable accrual rates - early retirement factoi's with reference to age 60 on

refirement from active service from age 55

Revaluation Rate : Accrual rate
earnings . _ 1/59.7 .
CPI+1.25% in the range 1/53.5 10 1/56.5.
cPl . . : in the range 1/48 to 1/50

. Report. In particular, the accrual rate a

This letter has been prepared for the Depa

The accrual rates shown above are based on the benefits set outin Annex A.
The accrual rates shown above have been determined using the same approach defailéd in the
tructions set out in Appendix C to the Verification

Verification Report including HM Treasury’sins i
llows for the long term tést and spreading of past service

costs. :

Wé waould be happy fo discuss the reasons why the re‘su‘lts relate fé each other the way .they do.

Data, methodology and assurnptions

We have used the same data, methodology and assumptions as adopted in ’k_he Veﬁfication
Report, except for the changes detailed in Annex B. s

| Limitations

1. The affordable accrual rate is very sensiﬁv’e tothe assumpiipns and methodology used
when quoted fo the nearest 0.1 (which represents only about a 0.2% proportionate
change in thé accrual rate ~ and which is well within the bounds of normal actuarial *

approximations).

2. Thedata, methodology and assumptions (DMA) used in calculating the affordable accrual
rate for a proposed scheme design are set by HM Treasury. The DMA underlying the new
results shown in this léfter have not been discussed with or agreed by HM Treasury, and

~-nor has the proposed change in benefit désign. The new figures provided are therefore

provisional pending such discussion and agreemient.

3. GAD's calc'ulation of thésg_a figureé does not imply approval of the proposed benefit
structure by HM Treasury.© "+~ . :

4. I the fime available to produce this advice, it has not been through GAD's full quaitty
assurance processes. As a restult the figures provided are in draft and show a range of

affordable accrual rates within which the final figures are likely fo lie. Itis anticipated that
finalised figures will be available within 5 working days of the date of this letter.

Third party reliance and liability Y

rtment for Communities and Local G_over.nment. |
is report to third parties (including HM Treasury,

am content for the Department to release th !
d parliament), provided that:

other public service schemes, trades unions an

> itis releasedin full along with thé verification report.-
> the advice is not quoted selectively or partially,
> GAD is identified as the source of the report, and




" PROTECT - SCHEME MANAG!_EMENT \
> GAD s notified of such release '

Third parties whose interests may differ from those of the Department for Communities and
Local Government should be encouraged. to seek their own actuarial advice where

appropriate. - o

“This letter has been prepared for the Department for Communities and Local Government for the

_ purpose of assisting with scheme reform discussions. No person other than the Department for
Communities and Local Government or third party other than HMT is entitled to place any reliance

on the contents of this letter, except to any extent explicitly stated herein, and GAD has no liability
to any other person or third party for any act of omission taken, either in whole or in part, on the

basis of-this letter.

Yours sincerely .

DRAFT

_ Deputy Chief Actuary

d s




PROTECT - SCHEME MANAGEMENT

Annex A: Newlr scheme design (post 2015)

Other than the accrual rates, ;che f:]esigns'With enhanced ERF's from age 55 are as-sét'out in
Appendix A to the verification report, except that: ‘ ' :
"> . Early retirement reduction factors for retirement from active service from .age 55
are based on the period to normal pension age rather than the period to deferred

pension age [57 in the verification report]. Early retirement reduction factors for
- all other retirements are based on the period to deferred pension age.

S Revaluation whilst in service is at the rates specified.




PROTECT - SCHEME MANAGEMENT

" Annex B: Data methodology and assumptions

We have used the éame data, methodology and assumptions as adopted in the Verification
repoit, with the exception of changes to the retirement patters detailed in paragraph 3.6 ofthe
Verification Report to refiect the alternative early retirement provisions. The retirerment pattern

assumptions are as follows: :

> The Reference Scheme should be reassessed allowing for the early retirement of
half of the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members at age 52,-on terms consistent’
with the current FPS 1992 scheme. The remaining unprotected ex-FPS 1992
members should be assumed to remain in the scheme. This is unchanged from

the Verification Report | :

> .  We should assume that the introduction of the-révised early retirement terms will
restlt in the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members who would have retired at 60
instead retiring at 55 [57 in the verificatiori report . In the short-term, other
members (including all ex-NFPS 2006 members) should be assumed to have the
same retirement pattern as in the Reference Scheme. ' ' :

> In the leng-term it should be asstmgéd that the revised eaﬂy ireti{emen’c factors will
lead to a change in behaviour and 25% of members in active service reaching
age 55 [57 in the verification report ] will be assumed to retire immediately.

> In ad'dition members-who W{'are‘ assumed to Withdraw from the scheme between
- ages 55 and 60 [between 57 and 60 in the verification report] should instead be
assumed to take early retirement at the age at which they would have deferred.

As a result of the revised early retirement terms, the FPS 1992 liabilities may be expected to
increase. Consistent with paragraph 3.8 of the verification report we have assumed that the
FPS 1992 past service lfability will increase by an amount equivalent to assuming that half of
all unprofected ex-FPS 1992 members will change their behaviour to refire at age 55 [57 in

the verification report].

"2 Yhere are no early retirement factors in the FPS 1992,

Gho
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GOVERMMENT ACTUARY’S DEPARTMENT

. PROTi‘:’CT - SCHEME MANAGEMENT

DRAFT

Refarence:

¥@communities.gsi.gov.uk

24 January 2014

Dear (D, . .

Cbsting of alternative early retirement prdvis’ions .

When we met with the FBU on 14 January, you esked e fo calculate the affordable accrdal rate
for the scheme desrgns proposed by the FBU. ' :

GAD’s report 'Vent" cation of cost of final scheme design’ dated 23 May 2012 (the Verification
Report) set out the accrual rate that could be provided within the framework of the HMT cost
ceiling process on a benefit design where Early Retirement Factors with reference to the normal
pension age of 60 are provided on early retirement from active service from age 57. The accrual

rate stated was 1/68.7.
Bciraft letter of 16 May 2013, set out the corresponding accrual rate for the same

roposed design as above, except that Early Retirement Factors with reference to the normal
- pension age of 60 are provided on early retirement from active seyvice from age 55. The accrual

rate stated was 1/59.7.

The accrual rates above were-calculated assuming that Early Retirement Factors with reference
to the normal pension age of 60 were on a “deferred basis” (see explanation below), You have

- asked GAD to calculate the affordabli accrual rates if the Early Retirement Factors were instead
oh an “active basis’ (see explanatlon below), as requested in emarl to me dated

15 January 2014

This letter should be read in conjunction with the Verification Report and- letter
of 16 May 2013, and in particular the limitations contained therein.

Eariy Retirement Factors

The scheme designs which have prewous[y been considered assumed that Early Retirement
Factors with reference to the normal pension age of 60 were calculated on a deferred basis
(deferred ERFs). Deferred ERFs are calculated such that the value of the membei’s reduced
pension following early retirement will be broadly equal to the value of their pension if they had

instead withdrawn at the same point with an entitlement to a deferred pensmn which could bepaid ,

unreduced from age 60.

You have asked GAD o calculate the affordable accrual rates if these early retirement factors
were instead calcu_iated on an active basis (active ERFs). Active ERFs are calculated such that

1 https: . gov. ukigovernmentlupioads/systemiupioads/attachment dataffile/2401/2150577.pdf -
Finlaison House 15-17 Furnival Street London EC4A 1AB T: +44 (0)20 7211 2600 W: www.gad.gov.uk
Direct Line: +44 {0)20 721: ax Number; £44 (0)20 7211 ‘ Email: -@gad .gov.uk

GAD seeks to achieve a high standard In alf our work. Pleasa go {0 our website for delails of the standards Ve appiy.




PROYECT - SCHEME MANAGEMENT

member’s reduced pénsion following early retirement will be broadly equal to the

the value of the |
ned as an active member of the scheme until age 60

value of the pension if they had instead remaf
or earlier exit due to death or ill health.

' Results

he schemé designs described above using the

" Table 1 sets out the affordable at':crdal rates forf
rates should be

data, methodology-and assumptions described in this letter. These accrual
considered in conjunction with the limitations hoted below. '

Tahle 1 — Affordable accrual rates

N " Deferred ERFs - * ° - Active ERFs
Enhanced early retirement from 57 1/58.7 . not calcutated
Enhanced early retirement from 55 1597 . - 1/61.2

The acciual rates shown above are based on the' benefits set out in A—ﬁnlex A.

above have been determined using the same ab’pr@ach detailed in the.
ing HM Treasury's instructions set out in Appendix C 10 the Verification
accrual rate allows for the long term test and spreading of past'service

The accrual rates shown
Verification Report includ
Report. In particular, the

costs. :
We would be happy to discuss the rea"soné why the active ERF results relate fo the deferred ERF
results in the way they do. . - ' .

Data, methodology and assumptions

We have used fhé same data, méfhodology and assumptibns as adopted in the Verification
Repott, except for the changes detailed in Annex B. - o

. Limitations
1 The affordable accrual rate is very‘sensiﬁve to the assumptions and methodology used

when quoted to the nearest 0.1 (which represents only about a 0.2% proportichate
change in the accrual rate — and which is well within the bounds of normal actuarial

approximations).

2. The data, methodology and assumptions (DMA} used in calculating the affordable accrual
" rate for a proposed schenie design are set by HM Treasury. The DMA underlying the new
results shown in this lefter have not been discussed with or agreed by HM Treasury; and
nor has the proposed change in benefit design. The new figures provided are therefore
provisional pending such discussion and agreement. o

3. GAD’s calculation of these figures does not imply approval of the proposed benefit
structure by HM Treasury. - . ~

“Third party reliance and liability

This Iettef has been prépared for the Department for Commuriities and Local Government. |
am content for the Department to release this report to third parties (including HM Treasury,

other public service schemes, trades unions and pariiament),- provided that:

‘GAD i D




PROTECT - SCHEME MANAGEMENT

it is released in full along with the verification report.
the advice is nof quoted selectively or partially,
GAD is identified as the source of the report, and '
GAD is notified of such release’ :

V ¥V v v

Third parties whose interests may differ from those of the Departmeht for Communities and
L.ocal Government should be encouraged to seek their own actuarial advice where

appropriate.

This letter has been prepared for the Department for Communities and Local Government for the
‘purpose of assisting with scheme reform discussions. No person other than the Department for
Communities and Local Government or third party other than HMT is entitled to place any reliance
on the contents of this letter,'except to any extent explicitly stated herein, and GAD has no liability
to any other.person or third party for any act or omission takén, éither in whole o in part, on the

| basis of this lefter. .

Yours sincetely : ' o -

DRAFT

Depufy Chief Actuary




PROTECT - SCHEME MANAGEMENT

Annex A: New scheme design (post 2015)
The design with enhariced ERFs from age 57 is as set out in Appendix A to the verification report.

Other than the accrual rates, the designs with enhanced -ERFS from age 55 are as set out in
. Appendix A to the verification report, except that; : E

> ' Early retirement reduction factors for retirement from active service from age-55
" are based on the period to normal pension age.rather than the period to deferred -
‘pension age [57 in the verification report]. Early retirement reduction factors for

all other retirements are based on the period to deferred pension-age.

The_different methods for calculating ERFs have been described earlier in this letter.

GAD | - '. .4




PROTECT - SCHEME MANAGEMENT

Anﬁex B: Data methodology and assumptions

For enhanced ERFs, from 55 (deferred and active ERFs), we have used the same data,
methodology and assumptions as adopted in the Verification report, with the exception of changes
to the retirement patters detailed in paragraph 3.6 of the Verification Report to reflect the
alternative early retirement provisions. The retirement pattern assumptions are as follows:

> The Reference Scheme should be reassessed allowing for the sarly retirement of
half of the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members at age 52, on terms consistent®
- with the current FPS 1992 scheme: The remaining unprotected ex-FPS 1992
members should be assumed fo remain in the schemé. This is unchanged from-

the Verification Report.

> We should assume that the introduction of the revised early retirement terms will
result in the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 membérs who would have retired at 60
instead retiring at 55 [57 in the verification report]. In the short-term, other
members (including all ex-NFPS 2006 members) should be assumed to have the
same retirement pattern as in the Reference Scheme.:

> Inthe long-term it should be asé_unjéd that the revised early retirement factors will
‘lead to a change in behaviour and 25% of members in active sérvice reaching -
age 55 [67 inthe vgrification report ] will be assumed to retife immediately.

In addition members who were assumed to withdraw from the scheme between
-ages 55 and 60 [between 57 and 60 in the verification repori] should instead be -
assumed to take early retirement at the age at which they would have deferred..

‘As a result of the révised early retirement terms, the FPS 1992 iabilittes may be expected to
increase. Consistent with paragraph 3.8 of the verification report we have assumed that the
FPS 1992 past service liability will increasé by an amount equivalent to assuming that half of
all unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members will change their behaviour to retire at age 55 [57 in

the verification report].

2 There are no early retirement factors in the FPS 1992

GAD N .
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| DRAFT

Reference: -

By e-mail to )communities.gsi.gov.uk

31 January 2014

Dear IS

Costing ofralternative_ early retirement provisions - sensitivities

1. When we metwith the FBU on 14 January, you asked me fo calculate the affordable accrual -
rate for the scheme designs proposed by the FBU. o

GAD’s report 'Verification of cost of final scheme design’ dated 23 May 20121 (the Verification
Report) set out the accrudl rate that could be provided within the framework of the HMT cost
cailing process on a benefit design where Early Retirement Factors (ERFs) with reference o
thie normal pension age of 60 are provided on eafly retirement from active service from age

- §57. The accrual rate stated was 1/58.7.

[ i draft letter of 16 May 2013, set out the correspdnding accrual rate for the
same proposed design as above, except that ERFs with reference to the normal pension age
of 60 are provided on early retirement from active service from age 55. The accrual rate stated

was 1/59.7.

4. The accrual r:ates above were calculated assuming that ERFs with reference to the normal
pension age of 60 were on a “deferred basis”. You then asked GAD to calculate the

affordable accrual rates if the Early Refirement Faciors were instead on an “active basis”, as
Bl o mail to me dated 15 January 2014. Our advice (inciuding an .

requested in_m
explanation ofthe terms " deferred basis” and “actives basis’) was set outin my letter to you of
24 January 2014. The accrual rate stated was 1/61.2. ' :

- 5. Youhave aéked me to provide figures that show the sen‘sitivitj;_ of the 1/61.2 figure to
alternative assumptions for the behavioural changes that might arise from this option in

comparison to the Reference Scheme. :

6. This letter should be read in conjunction with the Verification’ Report, § raft
letter of 16 May 2013 and my letter of 24 January 2014, and-in particular the limitations

contained therein. :

Sensitivities requested

- 7. You have asked me to consider the impact of changing the assumption for the proportion of
members who in the long-term would retire at 60 in the Reference Scheme to instead refire at

¢

1 https:llwww.gov.uklgoVernmentfugloadslsystem/uploads!attachment dataffile/0401/2150577.pdf
Finlaisen House 15-17 Furnlval Street London EC4A TAB T: +44 (0)20 7211 2600 W www.gad.gov.uk
Direct Line: +44 (0)20 7211‘Fax Number: +44 (Gy20 72171 Emall o ©9ad-gov-uk

website for defails of the standards we-apply.

GAD seeks fo achieve a high standard in alf our work. Please go o our
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* 55. This assumption was previously 25%.and you have asked me to show the impact of
- changing this to 50%. : : L

8. You have also asked me fo consider the sensitivity of changing the assumptions for short-term -
behavioural effects. The assumption underlying the accrual rate of 1/61.2 from paragraph .....
was that in the short-term, the 50% of unprotected FPS members with the least amount
service are assumed to retire at age 60 in the Reference Scheme but at 55 In the scheme with

uactive” ERFs. The remainder of unprotected FPS members withdraw/ retire.at age 52 in both
schemes. At your request, | have also considered a varlation of the short-term behavioural
charige. This is the impact of assuming that 45% of unprotected FPS members (with the most
amount of service) withdraw/ retire at 52 and the 55% (with the least amount of service) .

change their behaviour from refiring at 60.fo refiing at 55. . :

Resulis

9. Table 1 sets out the affordable acerual rates for the scheme designs described above using
the data, methodology and assumptions described int this letter. These accrual rates should

' be considered in conjunction with the limitations nioted below.

Table 1 — Affordable accrual rates

Affordable accrual rate

Previously stated assumptions S 1/61.2
Long-term sensitivity ' ' 1/61.3
Short-term sensitivity 1/61.8

. Both sensitivities 1/61.9

10. The accrual rates shown abm)éage based on thé benefits set'outin Annex A. The accrual
rates shown above have been determined using the same approach detailed in the:
Verification Report including HM Treasury's instructions set out in Appendix C to the-

Verification Report. In paiticular, the accrual rate allows for the long term test and spreading

of past service costs.
11. We Wwould be happy to discuss the reasons why the sensitivities refate to the original result in
the way they do. : B ' '

12, Ifthe assunipt‘i_onsrwere varied in the opposite diré'ct-ion. then the impact on the accrual rate '
would be roughly the same size of movement but in the opposite direction.

Data'l, methodology and assum ptions

13. We have used the same data, methodology and assumpfions as adopted In the Verification

Report; except for the changes detailed in Annex B.
Limitations

14. The affordable acérual_ rate is very sensitive to the assumptidns and methodology used when
‘quoted to the nearest 0.1 (which represents only about a 0.2% proportionate change in the
accrual rate —and which is well within the bounds of normal actuarial approximations).

15. The data, methodology and assumptions (DMA) used in ¢alculating the affordable accrual rate
for a proposed scheme design are set by HM Treasury. The DMA underlying the new results
shown in this letter have not been discussed with or agreed by HM Treasury, and nor has the

GAD o




PROTEGT - SCHEME MANAGEMENT

proposed change in benefit design. The new figures provided aré therefore provi;sional '
pending sueh discussion and agreement. : )

' 16. GAD's calcutation of these figures does-nbt imply appréva] of thé broposed beneﬁt structure
by HM Treasury. T '

17. This'sensitivity analysis shoﬁld not be taken as implying that the',assumpfions chosen area
best estitmate for possible behavioural change. :

. . Third party reliance and liability

18. This letter has been prepared for the Department for Communities and Local Go\iernment.- |
am content for the Department fo release this report to third pariies (including HM Treasury,
other public service schemes, trades unions and parliament), provided that:

it is released in full along with the verification report.
the advice is not quoted selectively or parﬁé]ly,
GAD is identified as the source of the report, and

" GAD s notified of such release '

vV Vv vV v

19. Third parties whose interests may differ from those of the Department for Communities and
L ocal Government should be efcouraged to seek their own actuarial advice where
appropriate. : : ) . :

20. This letter has been prepared for the Deparimentfor Communities and-Local Government for
the purpose of assistiig with scheme reform discussions. No person other than the _
Departrnent for Communities and Local Governiitent or third party other than HMT is entitled
to place any reliarice on the contents of this letter, except t6 any-extent explicitly stated herein,
and GAD has no liability to any other persoh or third party for any act or omissjon taken, either

in whole or in part, on the basis of this letter, -

Yours sincerely

DRAFT

* Deputy Chief Actuary .
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‘Annex A: New scheme design (post 2015)
The design with enhanced ERFs from age 57 is as set out in Appendix A o the verification report.

~ Other than the accrual rates, the designs with enhanced ERF‘srfrom ége 55 are as set out in
Appendix A to the verification report, except that: - ' .
> Early retirement reduction factors for retiremenﬁ from active service from agé 55
are based on the period to normal pension age rather than the period to deferred

pension age [57 in the verification repori]. Early retirement reduction factors for
. all other retirements are based on the period to deferred pension age.

The different methods for calculating ERFs have been described earlier in this letter.

GAD | | o | | a 4
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Annex B: Data methodology and assumptions

For enhanded ERFs, from 55 (deferred and active ERFs), we have used the same data,
‘methodology and assumptions as adopted in the Verification report, with the exception of changes
{o the refirement patters detailed in paragraph 3.6 of the Verification Report to reflect the

alternative early retirement provisions. :

P

The retirement pattern assumptions in these areas are as follows for each scenario in turn:

24 January 2014 letter accrual rate

The Reference Scheme should be reassessed allowing for the early retirement of
half of the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members at age 52, on terms consistent?
with the current FPS 1992 scheme. The remainirig unprotected ex-FPS 1992
members should be assumed fo remain in the scheme. This is unchanged from

. the Verification Report. . . _
> [|thas been assumed that the introduction of the revised early retirement terms
 will result in all the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members who would have refired at
60 instead retiring at 55 [57 in the verification report ]. In the short-term, other
members (including all ex-NFPS 2006 members) should be assumed to have the

>

' same retirement pattern as in the Reference Scheme.,

- In.the long-term it is assumed that the revised early retirement factors will lead to

b
a change in behaviour dnd 25% of merhbers in active service reaching age 55
[57 in the verification report ] will be assumed to retire immediately.
> In addition members who were assumed to withdraw from the scheme between
ages 55 and 60 [between 57 and 60 in the verification reporf] are instead
assumed to take early retirement at the age at which they would have deferred.
> As a resuit of the revised early retirement terns, the FPS 1992 liabilities may be

expected to increase. It has been gssumed that the 50% of unprotected FPS-
1992 meémbers with the most amount of FPS 1992 scheme service retire at age
52, with all those who remain in the scheme to age 55 [57 in the verification

report] retiring at that point:

These a_ssympﬁon's'are-identic_al to those in my:letter of 24 January 2014 but héve been re-
worded slightly to facilitate clarity on the differences between these assumptions and those

assumed under the sensitivity scenarios.

2 There are no early retirement factors iﬁ the FPS 1992,
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Long-term sensitivity

=

The Reference Scheme should be reassessed allowing for the early retirement of
half of the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members at age 52, on terms consistent
with the current FPS 1992 scheme. The remaining unprotected ex-FPS 1992
members should be assumed to remain |n the scheme.

" It has been assumed that the rntroductron of the revised early retirement terms

will result in all the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members who would have retired at
60 instead retiring at 55. In the short-term, other members (including all ex-NFPS
2006 members) should be assumed to have the same retrrement pattern as in

the Reference Scheme.
In the long—term it is assumed that the re\nsed eaily retirement factors will lead to
a change in behaviour and 50% of members in ac:tlve service reachmg age 55

will be assumed to retire immediately. ‘
In addition members who were assumed to wrthdraw from the scheme between
ages 55 and 60 are instead assumed to take early retirement at the age af which

they would have deferred

As aresuit of the revised early retlrement terms, the FPS 1992 liabilities may be
expected fo increase. It has been assumed that the 50% of unprotected FPS

. 1992 members with the most amount of FPS 1992 scheme sérvice retire at age '

52, with all those wha remain in the scheme to age 55 retiring at that pomt

Short-term sensitivity

>

GAD

The Reference Scheme shoutd be reassessed allowmg for the early retlrement of
45% of the tnprotected ex-F FPS 1992 members at age 52, on terms consistent

with the current FPS 1992 scheme. The rémaining unprotected ex-FPS 1992 .

: members should be assumed to rerain in the scheme.

It has been assumed that the infroduction of the revised early retirement terms
will result in all the uhprotected ex-FPS 1992 members who would have retired at
60 instead retifing at 55. In the short-term, other members (including all ex-NFPS
2006 members) should be assumed to have the same retlrement pattern as in

the Referénce Scheme.

in the long-term it is assumed that the revrsed early retirement factors will lead to

' a change in behaviour and 256% of members in active service reaching age 55

will be assumed to retire immediately. _
In addition members who were assumed to withdraw from the scheme befween
ages 55 and 60 are instead assumed to take early retlrement at the age at which

they would have deferred

As a result of the revised ear[y retirement terms, the FPS 1992 liabilities may be
expected to increase. It has been assumed that the 456% of unprotected FPS
1992 members with the most amount of FPS 1992 scheme service retire at age
52, with all those who remain in the scheme fo age 55 retiring at that point.
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Combinatibn of long and short-term sensitivity ' . .

-

GAD

The Reference Scheme should be reassessed allowing for the early retirement of
45% of the unprotected ex-FPS 1992.members at age 52, on'terms consistent
with the cuirrent FPS 1992 scheme, The remaining unprotected ex-FPS 1992
members should be assumed to remain in the scheme. .

It has been assumed that the introduction of the revised early retirement terms
will result in all the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members who would have retired at
60 instead retiring at 55. In the short-term, other members (including all ex-NFPS
2006-members) should be assurmed to have the same retirement pattern as.in

_the Reference Scheme.

In the long-term it is assumed that the reviéed early retirement factors will lead to

a change in behaviour and 50% of members in active service reaching age 55

will be assumed to retire immediately. ‘ .
In addition members who were assumed to withdraw from the scheme between
ages 55 and 60 are instead assumed fo take early retirement at the age-at which

they would have deferred. ' S
As a result of the revised early retirsment ferms, the FPS 1992 liabilities may be
expected fo increase. It has begn assumed that the 45% of unprotected FPS .
1992 members with the most amount of FPS 1992 scheme seérvice retire at age
52, with all those who remain In the scheme to age 55 retiring at that point.
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Reference:

- By e-mail to A g communities.gsi.gov.uk

7 February 2014

n’-

Costing of alternative early retirement and revaluation provisions

" When we met with the FBU on 14 January, you asked me fo calculate the affordable accrual rate
forthe scheme designs proposed by the FBU. .

GAD's repoit ‘Verification of cost of final scheme design’ dated 23 May 2012’ (the Verification
Reporl) set out the accrual rate that could be provided within the framework of the HMT cost
ceiling process on a benefit design where Early Retirement Factors with reference to the normal
pension age of 60 are provided on early retirement from active setvice from age 57. The acerual”

rate stated was 1/58.7.
| ,*’raﬁ letter of 16 May 201 3, set out the corresponding accrual rate for the same
proposed design as above, except that Early Retirement Factors with reference to the normal
- pension age of 60 are provided on early retirement from active service from age 55. The accrual
rate stated was 1/59.7. - ' : . .
The accrual rates in. ydraft letter were calculated assuming that revéluation-
whilst in service was in line with eamings. You have asked GAD to calculate the affordable

accrual rates if the in-service revaluation rates were linked to CPI and to CPI plus 1.25% a year,

as requested in Iy cmail to me dated 15 January 2014.

This letter should be read in conjunction with the Verification Report andm letter
of 16 May 2013, and in particufar the limitations contained therein. ’ B ]

1

Resuits

You have asked GAD to caloulate the affordable accrual rates if these altemative revaluation rates

applied . Table 1 sets out the affordable accrual rates for the scheme designs described above

_ calculated using the data, methodology and assumptions described in this lefter. These accrual
rates should be considered in conjunction with the limitations noted below.. .

: 1h’[tgs:hfwuruw.gt:'\.f.uklgovemmentluQ|oadsa's3,15femlup_loaolslzattach'ment dataffile/e401/2150577.ndf
Finlalson House 15-17 Furnival Street London EG4A 1AB T: +44 (0)20 7211 2600 W:; www.gad. gov.uk
Direct Line: +44 (0}20 Fax Number: +44 (0)20 7211 -Emall: -'_@gad.gov.uk
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Table 1 - Affordabie accrual rates - early retirement factors with reference to a deferred
pension payable from age 60 on retirement from active setvice.from age 55 '

Revaluation Rate - Accrual rate
_earnings - 1/59.7 -
CPH125% . 1/54.5
CPI ' ' 1/49.1

The accrual rates shown above are based on the benefits set out in Annex A.

The accrual rates shown above have been determined us_ing the same approach detailed in the
Verification Report including HM Treasury’s instructions set out in Appendix C.fo the Verification
Report.” In particular, the accrual rate allows for the fong term test and spreading of past service

- cosfs.

 We would be happy to discuss the reasons why the results relate to each other the way they do.

Data, methodology and assumptions

We have used :thé‘same data, methodology and assumptions (DMA) as adopted.inthe
Verification Report, except for the changes detailed in Annex B, 1

" Since the Verification Report was produced, work has been ongoing on the 2012 valuation of the
fire pension schemes. The DMA to be used for the 2012 valuation will be different to that
underlying the verification report. if the 2012 valuation DMA were used to calculate affordable -
accrual rates, then these rates would be likely to be different to those set out in this letter.

Limitations

1. The affordable accrual rate is very sensitive to the assumptions and methodology ué_ed ‘
when quoted tothe nearest 0.1 (which represents only abouta 0.2% proportionate
change in the accrual rate — and which is well within the bounds of normal actuarial

-approximations).

2. The-data, methodology and assumptions used in calculating the affordable accrual rate for
a proposed scheme design are set by HM Treasury. The DMA underlying theé new resullts,
shown in this lefter have not been discussed with or agreed by HM Treasury, and nor has
the proposed change in benefit design. The new figures provided are therefore
provisional pending such discussion and agreement.

3. GAD's calculation of these figures does not imply approval of the proposed benefit
structure hy HM Treasury. | - . : -

Thilld party-re-liance and liability

This letter hés been prepared for the De‘partment for'Communities and Local Govérn_ment. |
am content for the Department to release thiis report to third parties (including HM Treasury,
other public service schemes, frades unions and parliament), provided that: :

> itis released in full along with the verification report.
> the advice is not quoted selectively or partially,
> GAD is identified as the source 'of-the report, and

5

Gho Y
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> GAD is ndtiﬁed of such-release .

Third parties whose interests may differ from those of the Department for Communities and
Local Government should be encouraged to seek their own actuarial advice where

appropriate. . i

This Jetter has been prepared .for the Department for Communities and Local Government for tﬁe‘

purpose of assisting with scheme reform discussions. No person other than the Depariment for

‘Communities and Local Government or third party other than HMT is entitled to place any reliance

on the contents of this letter, except to any extent explicily stated herein, and GAD has no liability
-to any other person or third party for any act or omission taken, either in whole orin part, on the

hasis of this lefter.

Yours sincerely

\

Deputy Chief Actuary

.
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Annex A: New scheme design (post 2015)

Other than the accrual rates, the designs with enhanced ERFs from age 55 are as set out in
Appendix A to the verification report, except that: - ' B
> - Early retirement reduction factors for retirement from active service from age 55
are based on the period to normal pension age rather than the period to deferred

pension age [57 in the verification report]. 'Early retirement reduction factors for
all other retirements are based on the period to deferred pension age. ' '

> Revaluation whilst in service is at the rates specified.

GAD
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Annex B: Data methodology and assumptions

We have used the same data, methodology and assumptions as adopted in the Verification -
report, with the exception of changes to the retiremént patters detailed in paragraph 3.6 of the
Verification Report to reflect the alternative early refirement provisions. The retirement pattern

assumptions are as follows:

>

same retiremient pattern as in the Reference Scheme. -

The Reference Scheme should be reassessed allowing for the early retirement of
half of the unprotécted ex-FPS 1992 members at age 52, on.terms consistent”
with the current FPS 1992 scheme. The remaining unprotected ex-FPS 1992
members should be assumed to remain in the scheme. This is unchanged from

the Verification Report . :

We should assume that tie introduction of the revised early retirement terms will
result in the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members who would have retired at 60
instead retiring at 55 [57 in the verification report 1. [n the short-term, other
members (including all ex-NFPS 2006 members) should be assumed to have the

in the long-term it should be assumed that the revised early retirement factors will
lead to a change in behaviour and 25% of members in active service reaching -
age 55 [57 in the verification report ] will be assumed fo retire immediately.

In addition members who were assumed to withdraw from the scheme between
ages 55 and 60 [between 57 and 60 in the verification report] should instead be
assumed to take early retirement at the age at which they would have deférred.

As a result of the revised early retirement terms, the FPS 1992 liabilities may be expected to

increase. Consistent with paragraph 3.8 of the verification report we have assumed that the

FPS 1992 past service liability will increase by an amount equivalent fo assuming that half of
* ali unprotected ex-FPS 1992 rmembers will change their behaviour to retire at age 55 [67in

the verification report].

2 There are no early retirement factors in the FPS 1992.

| GAD
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CGOVYERNMENT ACTUARY'S DEPARTMENT

' PﬁOTECT - SCHEME MANAGEMENT

Reference:

Dcommunities.gsi.gov.uk

By e-mail t

"7 March 2014

Costing of alternative early retire'ment and revaluation provisions

You have asked metovalue a further alternative scheme de3|gn

GAD’s report “Verification of cost of f nal scheme desrgn dated 23 May 2012 (the Venficatlon
Report) set out the accrual rate that could be provided within the framework of the HMT cost
ceiling process on a benefit design where Early Retirément Factors with reference to the normal
pension age of 60 are provided on early retirement from active service from age 57. The accrual

 rate stated was 1/58.7.
Riraft Ieﬁer of 16 May 2013, set out the corresponding accrual rate for the same

proposed design as above, except that Early Retirement Factors with reference to the normal
. pension age of 60 are provided on early retirement from active serwce from age 55. The accrual

rate stated was 1/59.7.

The accrual rates in 4 NRERNIINReC i letter were calculated assuming that revaluatior
whilst in service was in line with earnings. You have asked GAD to calculate the affordable

accrual rates' if the in-service revaluation rates were linked to CP plus 1.6% a year.

This letter should be read in conjunction with the Verification Report ano-letter
of 16 May 2013, and in.particular the limltatlons contamed thereln

Results

Table 1 sets out the affordable accrual rate for the scheme design described above calculated
using the data, methodology and assumptions described in this letter together with those set out in
my letter of 7 February 2014. These accrual rates should be considered in conjunction with the

limitations noted below.

Table 1 - Affordable accrual rates - early retirement factors with reference to a deferred
pension payable from age 60 on retirement from active service from age 65 -

Accrual rate

- Revaluation Rate
eamings o 1/59.7
- CPI+1.6% o 1/56.2
CPI+1.25% . : 1/54.5
CPI 1/49.1

Finlaison House 15-17 Eurnlval Street Lendon EC4A 1

Direct Line: +44, (CH NI 2x Number: +44 (0)20dEmaul

ttgs I, gov. uk!governmentlug' loads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/9401/2150577. pdf
AB T: +44 {0)20 7211 2600 W: www.gad.qov.uk
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The accrual rates shown above ‘are based on the benefits set out in Annex A.

The aéerual rates shown above have been determined using the same approach detailed in the
Verification Report including. HV Treasury's instructions set out in Appendix C to the Verification
Report: In particular, the accrual rate allows for the long term test and spreading of past service

cosis, !

We would be happy to discuss the reasens why the resilts relate to each other the way they do.

Data, méthodology and assumptions

We have used the same data, methodology and aésumptions {DMA) as adopted in the
Verification Report, except for the changes detailed in Annex B.

Since the Verification Report was produced, Work has been ongoing on the 2012 valuation of the
i hemes. The DMA fo be used for the 2012 valuation will be different o that

fire pension sc : [ /
underlying the verification report. If the 2012 valuation DMA were used to calculate affordable

accrual rates, then these rates would be likely to be different to those set out in this lefter. °

Limitations

1, . The affordéble accrual rate is very sensitive to the assumptions-and methodology used
" when quoted to the nearest 0.1 {which represents only-about a 0.2%-proportionate
change in the accrual rate — and which s well within the bounds of normal acftuaria[

approximations). ‘

2. The data, methodology and assumptions used in calculating the affordable accrual rate for
a proposed scheme design are set by HM Treasury. The DMA underlying the new results
shown in this letter have not been discussed with or agreed by HM Treasury, and nor has
the proposed change in benefit design. The new figures provided are therefore -
provisional pending such discussion and agreement.

3. GAD's calculation of these figures does not imply approval of the proposed benefit
structure by HM Treasury. . :

- Third party reliance and liability

This letter has been prepared for the Debartment for Communities and Local Government, |
am content for the Depariment to release this report fo third parties (including HM Treasury,
other public service schemes; trades unit_)ns and parliament), provided that: _

it is released in full along with the verification report..
the advice is not quoted selectively or partially,
GAD is identified as the source of the report, and
GAD is notified of such release

V V.V v

Third parties whose interests may differ from those of the Department for Communities and
Local Government should be encouraged to seek their own actuarial advice where :

approptiate.

This letter has been prepared for the Department for Communities and Local Government for the
g with scheme reform discussions.” No person other than the Department for

purpose of assistin 7 _
t or third party other than HMT is entitled to place any reliance

 Communities and Local Governmen
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on the contents of this letter except to any extent expltmtly stated hereln, and GAD has no liability
‘to any other person or third party for any act or omission taken elther in whole or in part, on the '

basis of this letter.

Yours sincerely

r

]
Deptty Chief Actuary

GAD
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Annex A: New scheme design (post 2015)

Other than the accrual rates, the designs with enhanced ERFs from age 55 ére as setout in
" Appendix A fo the verification report, except that: ' C o

> Early retirement reduction factors for retirement from active service from age 55

are based on the period to normal pension age rather than the period to deferred
pension age [57 in the verification report]. Early retirement reduction factors for
~all other retirements are based on the period to deferred pension age.

>  Révaluation whilst in service is at the rates specified.

GAD
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Anhex B: Data methodology and a'ssumptiplns

We have used the same data, methodology and assumptions as adopted in the Verification
report, with the exception of changes to the retirement patters detailed in paragraph 3.6 of the -
Verification Report to reflect the altemative garly retirement provisions. The retirement paftern

assumptions are as follows:

=

a

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

the Verification Report :

-We should assume that the introduction of thé revised early retirement térms will

result in the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members'who would have retired at 60

_instead retiring at 55 [57 in the verification report 1. In the short-term, other

members (including all ex-NFPS 2006 members) should be assumed to have the
same refirement pattern as in the Reference Scheme. '

In the long-term it should bé assumed that the revised early-retirement factors will
lead to a change in behaviour and 25% of members in active service reaching
age 55[57 in the verification report ] will be assumed to-retire immediately.

In addition members th were assumed fo withdraw.fronv the scheme between
ages 55 and 60 [between 57 and 860 in the verification report] should instead be
assumed o take early retirement 4t the age at which they would have deferred.

As a result of the revised early retirement terms, the FPS 1992 liabilities may be expected to
increase. Consistent with paragraph 3.8 of the verification report we have assumed that the
FPS 1992 past service liability will increase by an amount equivalent to assuming that half of
all unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members will change their behaviour to retire at age 55 [57 in

the verification report].

" 2 There are no early retirement factors in the FPS 1992.

GAD
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Reference:

By e-mail to il cor_hmuniﬁes.gsi'.gov-.Uk

19 March 2014

Deagi
Costing of alternative early retirement and revaluation provisions with special
terms for certain unprotected FPS member N

1. You have asked me fo-value a further alternative scheme design.

2. GAD's report ‘Verification of cost of final scheme design’ dated 23 May 2012 (the Verification
Report) set out the accrual rate that could be provided within the framework of the HMT cost
ceiling process on a benefit design where Early Retirement Factors with reference to the _.
normal pension age of 60 are provided on early retirement from active service from age 57.

The accrual rate stated was 1/58.7.

‘draft letter of 16 May 2013, set out the corresponding accrual rate for the
same proposed design as above, except that Early Retirement Factors with reference to the
normal pension age of 60 (calculated on a deferred basis as described in annex A) are
provided on early retifement from active service from age 55. The accrual rate stated was

1/59.7. | ) |

4. The accrual rates in”draﬁ letter were calculated assuming that revaluation
whilst in service was in [ine with earnings. You subsequently asked GAD to calculate the
affordable accrual rates if, all other benefits remaining unchanged, the in-service revaluation
rate was linked to CPI plus 1.6% a year. My letter of 7 March 2014 showed this accrual rate |

{o be 1/56.2.

5. You also asked for a further calculation following on from that set out in my letter of 7 March

2014. Unprotected members of the FPS who were aged 40 or over and had at least 20
years of service will have different early retirement factors if they retire from active service
after age 55. These will be calculated in the same way as for other members-but so that the

pension will be 1% higher for each year early that the member retires before age 60, upto a

maximum of 5% for those who retire on their 55th birthday.

8. This letter should be read in conjunction with the Verification Report S
of 16 May 2013 and niy lefter of 7 March 2014, and in particular the limitations contéined

therein.

Result

7. The assumptions used to calculate affordable accrual rates for other scheme designs have
assumed that the half of unprotected FPS members, those with the most service, will refire at
age 52 in the Reference scheme and all proposed scheme designs. The members subject to

1 https:l/www.gov.uk/gdvernmentlugIoadélsystemlugloads!atfachment data/file/9401/2150577.pdf
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the additional special terms proposed in this latest costing request fall into the half of
unprotected FPS members who have the most service. They would, therefore be assurhed -

* to retire at age 52 and not fake up the special terms bieing proposed. .

10.

1.

12.

13.

Therefore, under the assumptidns adopted for asseissing other benefit design scenarios, the
affordable accrual rate would be the same as that calculated in my letter of 7 March i.e.

1/56.2.

The accrual rate should be ,cénsidered in conjunction with the limitations noted below.’

The accrual rate is based on the benefits set out in Annex A. It has been determined using
the same approach detailed in the Verification Report including HM Treasury’s instructions
set out in Appendix C to the Verﬁﬁcation‘Report. in particular, the accrual rate allows for the
long term test and spreading of past service costs.. . o

We have used the same data, methodology and-aésumptions (DMA) as édopted in the
Verification Report, except for the changes detailed in Annex B. : -

The maijority of the members eligible for these special terms will be subject to tapered
transitional protection. As for previous work, we have not allowed for the taper in our

“calculations. ‘All of the members eligible for these special terms-who are eligible for taper

protection.would have to work heyond the end of their taper period to be able to access the |

* special terms. -

The result emerging from this latest calculation does however possibly call info question -
whether the methodology and assumptions adopted, and in particular the assumnption set out

in paragraph 7 above, remain appropriate to use for this purpose. Alternative approaches are

considered below. These have not been discussed with HM Treasury.

Altemative calculations

14. Under the écher_ne reform process, HMT i responsible for sefting assumpfions. HVT r'nay

19,

16.
" Reference Scheme but to assums that all of the members eligible for these spécial terms

“ysed, leading fo a different accrual rate.

not regard the current assumptions as appropriate for valuing this latest option. We cannot
second guess what assumptions HMT might regard as being appropriate for valuing this
option. We are happy for you to instruct us to calculate the affordable accrual rate on
alternative assumptions. However HMT may ultimately require different assumptiotis to be

More generous early retirement terms would be expected to lead to a reduction in the
affordable accrual rate and | have looked into some alfemative methods of calculating an
affordable accrual rate which might have this effect. Any alternative calculation methods
might however be inconsistent with calculations previously done ta calculate affordable
accrual rates for other schéme designs. The indicative results in this section assume that the
calculations would follow the DMA described in annex B except for the specific variations

described in this section.-

The first alternative might be to make no changes to assdmptions that affect the value of the

retire at age 55 when valuing the alternative scheme design. This would generate the

biggest impact on the accrual rate without changing the valuation of the reference scheme.
However, initial work shows that this calculation will lead to a more generous rather than less
generous accrual rate. The reason for this is there will be a past service saving (since these
members are receiving their FPS benefits later — ie at age 55 rather than 52) alongside the
future service cost (since these members are receiving the special terms). The impact of the
past service saving is greater than that of the future service cost and the net saving leads fo
an increase in accrual raté. | have not calculated the exact accruat rate under this approach.




" PROTECT - SCHEME MANAGEMENT

17. A second option might be to assume that the members eligible for these special terms retire
at age 55 in the Reference Scheme. This would generate the biggest reduction in the accrual
rate without changing the assumptions for members unaffected by the special tems. This
accrual rate could be no more generous than the accrual rate in my letter of 7 Match but .
when calculated in practice it is likely to be the same as that accrual rate. The reason for this

is set out in the next paragraph. -,

18. The calculation of the affordable accrual rate in my letter of 7 March uses the least generous
of the acerual rates calculated using the shorf-term and long-term tests and it is the long-term
test that is the less generous. However, these special terms only affect the short-term test
and our expectation is that the reduction in the accrual rate is unlikely to be sufficient to make
the accrual rate calculated under the short-term test the least generous: In the tinie available
we have not however undertaken detailed calculations to confirm this expectation. :

A final option would be to use a methadology that departs from the cost ceiling methodology.

- One approach would be to calculate the reduction in the short-term accrual rate arising from
the second option described above and then apply it fo the accrual rate set out in my letter of
7 March. The reduction would be a short-term calculation while the main accrual rate derived
from a long-term calculation so these quantities would not be strictly comparable.” The '
accrual rate arising from this calculation is unlikely to be lower than 1/58

19.

- Piease let me know If you would like me to provide figures for these, or any other, alfernative
calculation methodologies. : ‘ . '

Limifations

20. The affordable accrual rate is Véry sensitive to the assumptions and methodology used when
© quoted to the nearest 0.1 (which represents only about a 0.2% proportienate change in the’
. accrual rate — and which is well within the bounds of normal actuarial approximations).

21. The data, methodology and assumpfions used in calculating the affbrdable accrual rate for a

proposed scheme design are set by HM Treasury. The DMA underlying the new results
shown in this letter have not been discussed with or agreed by HM Treasury, and nor has the

proposed: change in benefit design. The new figures provided are therefore provisional
pending such discussion and agreement. ' o '

29 GAD's calculation of these figures does not imply approval 6f the proposed benefit structure
by HM Treasury. ' ' :
Since the Verification Report was produced, work has been ongoing on the 2012 valuation of
. the fire pension schemes. The DMA to be used for the 2012 valuation will-be different to that

underlying the verification report. If the 2012 valuation DMA were used to calculate
affordable accrual rates, then‘these rates would be fikely to be different to those set out in

this, or earlier letters.

23.

' Third party: reliance and liability 0

This letter has been prepared for the Department for Communities and Local Government. I
am content for the Department to release this report to third parties (including HM Treasury,
other public service schemes, trades unions and parliament), provided that:

it is released in ﬂjll along with the verification report.
the advice is not quoted selectively or partially,
GAD is identified as the source of the report, and
GAD is notified of such release

VvV Vv v Vv

\
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Third parties whose‘ihterests may differ from those of the Department for Communities and
Local Government should be er_lcouraged o §eek their own actuarial advice where

appropfiate.

This letter has been prepared for the Depariment for Communities and Local Government for the
purpose of assisting with scheme reform discussions. No person other than the Department for
Communities and Local Government or third party other than HMT is entitled to place any reliance
on the contents of this [etter, except fo any extent explicitly stated herein, and GAD has no liability
to any other person or third party for any act or omission taken, either in whole or in part, on the

basis of this letter.

Yours sincerely |

" Deputy Chie! Actuary

GAD - - 4
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" Annex A: New schem'e design (post-2015)

Other than the accrual rates the de5|gns with enhanced ERFs from age 55 are as set outin
Appendlx A fo the verification report, except that: .

>

GAD

Early retirement reduction factors for retirement from active service from age 55
are based on the period to normal pension age rather than the period to deferred
pension age. Factors are set so that the early retirement pension is actuarially

'equwaient to a deferred pension payable from normal pengion age. 'Early.

retirement reduction factors for all other retirements are based on the penod o

© deferred pension age.

Unprotected mémbers of the FPS aged 40 or over and with at least 20 years
service on 1 April 2012 who retire from active service from age 56 will receive a
1% increase in their pension relative to the terms set out in the buliet point above

" for every year that they retire before age 60, up to a maximuin of 5%.

Revaluation whilst in service is 4t the rate of CPI plus 1.6% a year.
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‘Annex B: Data methodology and assdmptions

. We have used the same data, methodology and aséumptions ‘as adopted in the Verification
teport, with the exception of changes fo the retirement patters detailed in paragraph 3.6 of the
Verification Report fo reflect the a]ternaftive early rétirement grovisions. The retirement pattern

assumptions are as follows:

=

The Reference Scheme should be reassessed allowing for the early refirement of
half of the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members at age 52, oni-terms consistent? ’

" with the current FPS 1992 scheme. The remaining unprotected-éx-FPS 1992

members should be assumed to remain in the scheme. This is unchanged from -

~ the Verification Report -

We should assume that the introduction of the revised early retirement te-rms"will' '

resultin the unprotected ex-FPS 1992 members who would have retired at 60

instead retiring at 55.- In the short-term, other members (including all ex-NFPS
2006 members) should be assumed to have the same refirement pattern as in

the Reference Scheme.

In the long-term it sho_ti!d be assumed that the revised early retirement factors will
lead to a change in behaviour and 25% of members in active service reaching *
age 55 [57 in the verification report ] will be assumed to retire immediately:

In addition members who were assumed to withdraw from the scheme between _
ages 55 and 60 should instead be assumed to take early retirement at the age at
which they would have deferred. : . I

As a result of the revised early retirement terms, the FPS 1992 liabilities may be expected to
increase. Consistent with paragraph 3.8 of the verification report we have assumed that the .
FPS 1992 past service liability will increase by an amount equivalent to assuming that half of
all unprotected ex-FPS- 1992 members will change their behaviour to refire at age 55.

Note that that the “alternative calculations” section of this letter describes variations to this
methadology. ' . ‘ .

2 There are no early retirement factors in the FPS 1892

-~ GAD




